UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO MARANHÃO – UFMA CENTRO DE CIÊNCIA BIOLÓGICAS E DA SAÚDE – CCBS CURSO DE MEDICINA

"POST-WEANING EXPOSURE TO HIGH-SUCROSE DIET LEADS TO EARLY CARDIOMETABOLIC SYNDROME AND DIABETIC CARDIOMYOPATHY ONSET"

Gilberto de Holanda Lopes Filho

SÃO LUÍS – MA 2018

UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO MARANHÃO – UFMA CENTRO DE CIÊNCIA BIOLÓGICAS E DA SAÚDE – CCBS CURSO DE MEDICINA

"POST-WEANING EXPOSURE TO HIGH-SUCROSE DIET LEADS TO EARLY CARDIOMETABOLIC SYNDROME AND DIABETIC CARDIOMYOPATHY ONSET"

Gilberto de Holanda Lopes Filho

Trabalho de conclusão de curso apresentado à Faculdade de Medicina – UFMA, como requisito básico para obtenção de grau médico.

Orientador: Prof. Dr. Antonio Marcus de Andrade Paes. Departamento de Ciências Fisiológicas – DFC – UFMA.

Ficha gerada por meio do SIGAA/Biblioteca com dados fornecidos pelo(a) autor(a). Núcleo Integrado de Bibliotecas/UFMA

Lopes Fiho, Gilberto de Holanda. POST-WEANING EXPOSURE TO HIGH-SUCROSE DIET LEADS TO EARLY CARDIOMETABOLIC SYNDROME AND DIABETIC CARDIOMYOPATHY ONSET / Gilberto de Holanda Lopes Fiho, Mariana Uchôa da Silva, Nathalee Liberal Xavier Ribeiro. - 2018. 65 f.

Orientador(a): Antonio Marcus de Andrade Paes. Curso de Medicina, Universidade Federal do Maranhão, São Luís, MA, 2018.

 Cardiometabolic Syndrome. 2. Diabetes. 3.
 Diabetic Cardiomyopathy. 4. High-sugar Diet. 5. Sucrose.
 I. da Silva, Mariana Uchôa. II. Paes, Antonio Marcus de Andrade. III. Ribeiro, Nathalee Liberal Xavier. IV. Título.

"POST-WEANING EXPOSURE TO HIGH-SUCROSE DIET LEADS TO EARLY CARDIOMETABOLIC SYNDROME AND DIABETIC CARDIOMYOPATHY ONSET"

Gilberto de Holanda Lopes Filho

Trabalho de conclusão de curso apresentado à coordenação do curso de medicina para obtenção de grau médico, elaborado na forma de artigo científico a ser submetido na revista Journal of Developmental Origins of Health and Diseasel (Qualis B1 na área medicina I, Fator de Impacto 2.215 - 2017). Regras da revista para elaboração do manuscrito em anexo

Aprovado em: ___/__/___

ORIENTADOR:

Prof.Dr. Antonio Marcus de Andrade Paes Departamento de Ciências Fisiológicas

BANCA EXAMINADORA:

Prof. Me. Carlos José Moraes Dias Departamento de Educação Física - UFMA

Prof. Dr. Bruno Araújo Serra Pinto Departamento de Ciências Fisiológicas - UFMA

Esp. Marco Túlio Hercos Juliano Serviço de Cardiologia – Hospital Universitário Presidente Dutra

AGRADECIMENTOS

Em primeiro lugar, agradeço a todos os professores que contribuíram para minha formação acadêmica. Em especial ao meu orientador e amigo Prof. Dr. Antonio Marcus de Andrade Paes, por contemplar tudo de mais nobre que possa haver na palavra "professor" e que, ainda no primeiro período do curso de medicina, fez nascer em mim a grande paixão pela pesquisa e pela docência. Obrigado por acreditar no meu trabalho e por reativar a linha de pesquisa em cardiologia para que pudéssemos desenvolvê-la juntos.

Agradeço também a incrível equipe do Laboratório de Fisiologia Experimental – LeFisio, do qual faço parte com muito orgulho e sem os quais este trabalho jamais teria sido realizado. Em especial a Mariana Uchôa, a melhor companheira de experimentos que eu poderia ter – era o abraço no desespero, o acerto quando eu errava, me botava nos eixos, mas também era a diversão nas situações menos inusitadas. Agradeço à Nathalee Liberal por toda a preocupação, por sempre nos apoiar e também pelas inúmeras broncas que levou por nossa causa. Agradeço ainda, aos amigos que fiz no Laboratório, certamente bem representados pro todos os integrantes do grupo "SUGARdos" – vocês foram essenciais. No entanto, não poderia deixar de agradecer a todos os animais que vi nascer e que deram suas vidas para a execução deste trabalho – sem eles, nada teria sido possível.

Aos meus amigos da vida toda, PANAKAS S/A, que souberam lidar com as minhas inúmeras ausências e permaneceram fiéis durante toda essa trajetória, meu muitíssimo obrigado! Agradeço especialmente ao meu maior apoiador, Alysson Serrão, que sempre me incentivou a fazer e ser o melhor que eu pudesse e que, nem por um instante, duvidou de que eu seria capaz. Amo vocês. Com esse mesmo amor, agradeço aos amigos que a medicina me deu (e que já estão dando vários plantões enquanto eu estou aqui, atrasado, escrevendo este texto), representados pelo querido grupo "CAIXA ALTA" e "LAPADA". Vocês tornaram a difícil tarefa de conciliar internato e experimentos muito mais leve e suportável. Dentre estes, agradeço a Elis Vanessa por compartilhar comigo o amor pela ciência e pelos variados papos sobre astrofísica nos longos intervalos da nossa natação.

Por fim, agradeço a quem me proporcionou todas as bases para que eu pudesse chegar onde estou e onde ainda chegarei durante a vida: minha família. Aos meus pais pelo apoio e incentivo incondicionais. Aos meus irmãos, em especial à minha "irmãe" Pâmela Lopes, por enxergar em mim capacidades que, nem eu reconhecia. E à minha avó, Adelina, por ser o fundamento principal da pessoa que sou hoje e por, mesmo sem entender muito do que se tratava, cuidou de mim e rezou dia após dia para o sucesso deste artigo. Sem vocês, sou nada!

"A maioria das gaivotas não se preocupa em aprender mais do que o mínimo, no que se refere a voar – como ir da praia até a comida e voltar. Porém, Fernão Capelo Gaivota não era uma ave igual às outras [...]. Para esta gaivota, o que importava não era a comida, mas o voo.

Podemos nos erguer da ignorância, [...] podemos aprender a voar! [...] o mundo é o desconhecido."

- Richard Bach, Fernão Capelo Gaivota.

.....

"A mente que se abre a uma nova ideia jamais retorna ao seu tamanho original."

- Albert Einstein

RESUMO

Nas últimas décadas, o aumento na prevalência de doenças metabólicas correlacionou-se com o aumento do consumo de açúcar refinado, principalmente entre os jovens. Assim, as doenças cardiovasculares, principal causa de morbimortalidade nessa população, pode ocorrer de forma precoce e levar a desfechos cardiovasculares negativos mais prematuros. Recentemente, a cardiomiopatia diabética (DCM) surgiu como uma nova entidade clínica diretamente relacionada ao diabetes (DM), com subsequente progressão para insuficiência cardíaca, na ausência de fatores de risco cardiovascular clássicos. Neste contexto, o objetivo deste estudo foi investigar os efeitos da exposição a uma dieta rica em sacarose (HSD) enriquecida em 25% sobre parâmetros cardiometabólicos e histologia do tecido cardíaco desde os 21 (pós-desmame) até 120 (jovens adultos) dias de vida em ratos *wistar* machos.

Nossos resultados apontaram que, a partir dos 60 dias de vida, os animais HSD apresentaram aumento da adiposidade visceral (~ 25% aumento no tecido adiposo peri-epididimal) na ausência de sobrepeso e desenvolveram os 3 principais marcadores do DM: hiperglicemia, resistência insulínica e hipertrigliceridemia. Ao fim da intervenção dietética, os animais HSD também desenvolveram hipertensão sistólica e diastólica e marcadores histológicos de remodelamento patológica nas amostras de ventrículo esquerdo, como fibrose perivascular e hipertrofia dos cardiomiócitos.

Em conclusão, observamos que o consumo de sacarose durante os primeiros dias de vida pode levar ao início precoce da síndrome cardiometabólica e também induzir anormalidades miocárdicas compatíveis com uma fase de transição entre mecanismos pró-adaptativos e remodelamento patológica, que é característico do estágio pré-clínico da DCM. Além disso, nosso estudo sugere que o prolongamento do período de acompanhamento ou o aumento da concentração de sacarose na dieta pode levar a um fenótipo completo de DCM neste modelo animal.

Palavras-chave: Dieta Rica em Açúcar; Sacarose; Diabetes; Cardiomiopatia Diabética; Síndrome Cardiometabólica.

ABSTRACT

In the last decades, the increase in prevalence of metabolic disease correlated with increase in refined sugar intake, mainly among youth. This way, cardiovascular disease, main cause of morbimortality in this population, may have early onset and lead to premature negative cardiovascular outcomes. More recently, diabetic cardiomyopathy (DCM) emerged as a new clinical entity directly caused by diabetes (DM), with subsequent progression to heart failure in absence of classic risk factors. In this context the aim of this study was to investigate the effects of exposure to a 25% enriched high-sucrose diet (HSD) over cardiometabolic parameters and cardiac tissue histology since 21 (post-weaning) to 120 (young adults) days of life in male wistar rats.

Our results pointed that since 60 days of life, HSD animals presented increased visceral adiposity (~25% increased peri-epidydimal adipose tissue), without increased body weight and developed the main 3 markers of DM hyperglycemia, insulin resistance, hypertriglyceridemia. In the end of dietary intervention, HSD animals also developed systolic and diastolic hypertension and histological markers of pathological remodeling in ventricle samples, such as perivascular fibrosis and cardiomyocyte hypertrophy.

In conclusion, we observed that sucrose intake during early life nutrition may lead to premature onset of cardiometabolic syndrome and also induce myocardial abnormalities compatible with a transition from pro-adaptative mechanisms to pathological remodeling process, characteristic of a pre-clinical stage of DCM. Also, our study suggests that prolongation of follow up period or increasing sucrose concentration in diet may lead to a full DCM phenotype in this animal model.

Key-words: High-sugar Diet; Sucrose; Diabetes; Diabetic Cardiomyopathy; Cardiometabolic Syndrome.

SUMÁRIO

INTRODUCTION	10
METHODS	13
Animals, experimental groups and study design	13
Diets composition	14
Assessment of glucose-insulin axis function	14
Cardiovascular characterization	15
Histology Samples Preparation	15
Diabetic Cardiomyopathy Histological Parameters	16
Statistical Analysis	17
RESULTS	17
Early exposure to high-sucrose diet leads to metabolic abnormalities compatible with a type 2 diabetes phenotype, without the occurrence of weight gain	f 17
High-sucrose diet induces alterations in cardiovascular physiology leading to increased arterial pressure values	19
High-sucrose-induced DM2 is associated with histological alterations compatible with pre-clinical stage of DCM	20
DISCUSSION	20
CONCLUSIONS	32
ACKNOWLEGDMENTS	34
FINANCIAL SUPPORT	34
CONFLICT OF INTERESTS	34
REFERENCES	35
FIGURES, TABLES AND SUBTITLES	49
ANEXOS	58

"POST-WEANING EXPOSURE TO HIGH-SUCROSE DIET LEADS TO EARLY CARDIOMETABOLIC SYNDROME AND DIABETIC CARDIOMYOPATHY ONSET"

AUTHORS:

<u>Gilberto de Holanda Lopes Filho¹</u>, Mariana Uchôa da Silva¹, Nathalee Liberal Xavier Ribeiro^{1,2}, Thamyres Cristhina Lima Costa^{1,2}, Lucas Martins França¹, Rachel Melo Ribeiro³, Ana Paula Gameiro Cappelli¹, Antonio Marcus de Andrade Paes^{1,2}.

¹Laboratory of Experimental Physiology, Department of Physiological Sciences, Federal University of Maranhão, São Luís – MA, Brazil.

²Health Sciences Graduate Program, Health and Biological Sciences Centre, Federal University of Maranhão, São Luís, MA, Brazil

³Laboratory of Research and Post-Graduation in Pharmacology, Department of Physiological Sciences, Federal University of Maranhão, São Luís – MA, Brazil.

Correspondence: <u>marcuspaes@ufma.br</u>

INTRODUCTION

Over the past few decades, the unhealthy dietary pattern and the sedentary lifestyle have contributed to the increased prevalence of type 2 diabetes (DM2). According to International Diabetes Federation (2017), the problem has reached pandemic proportions, with around 425 million of adults with DM2 worldwide (1). Along with this scenario, it has been evidenced a global excessive consumption of added-sugar foods, especially among the younger population, which are more susceptible to consume palatable aliments.

accordingly, they presents the higher rates of dietary sugar intake – beyond the World Health Organization recommendation of no more than 10% of the daily caloric intake (ideally less than 5%) (2,3).

Consequently, the exposure to high dietary sugar during early life nutrition may induce a deleterious metabolic programming pattern, thus, leading to enhanced risk of developing metabolic disorders as DM2 and adverse cardiovascular outcomes during youth life and adulthood (4,5). Indeed, several studies have already demonstrated the causal relationship between consumption of foods with added fructose-containing sugars (mainly presented as sucrose and high fructose corn syrup - HFCS), and DM2 in animal and human models, with high or isocaloric sugar enriched diets (6–10).

While glucose is the main sugar that circulates physiologically in the blood, about 90% of the fructose component is absorbed in the liver and plays a central role in the pathophysiology of DM2 related to the excessive consumption of sugar-rich diets (11,12). Glucose and fructose are metabolized by different enzymes in the liver, where, in comparison to the glycolytic pathway, the fructolytic pathway has more intense activity, being, in contrast, insensitive to the cellular energy status and, in addition, neither allosterically regulated nor feedback inhibited (12–14). Therefore, the liver generates a large amount of substrates for the intermediary metabolism of carbohydrates and lipids, interfering with the regulatory signaling pathways and also leading to the activation of the transcription factors involved in lipogenic and gluconeogenic pathways, ultimately resulting in the three main components of DM2: hyperglycemia, insulin resistance and hypertriglyceridemia (14–16).

On the other hand, is widely known that DM2 is an independent cardiovascular risk factor. Actually, diabetic individuals are 2 to 3 times more prone to have cardiovascular disease (CVD), which, in turn, is the main cause of death in this population, thus becoming an important public health problem with high morbimortality rates and significant impact on countries economic production and health care costs (1).

In regard to the direct heart damage in diabetic patients, it has been recently recognized an individual clinical entity known as "Diabetic Cardiomyopathy" (DCM), which is characterized by abnormalities in myocardial structure and function, expressed as early subclinical impairment in diastolic relaxion. In later stages, occur subsequent development of systolic dysfunction and progression to symptomatic heart failure (HF) in the absence of coronary artery disease, hypertension, severe valvar disease or other classic cardiovascular risk factors such as age, obesity, smoking and dyslipidemia (17,18).

Actually, diastolic dysfunction is present in about 25-60% (18) of DM2 patients, among which, the prevalence of HF ranges around 19-36% (19) with a described HF incidence of 39% (19). In fact, each rise of 1% in hemoglobin A_{1c} is independently associated with an 8% increased HF risk, suggesting that glycemic control disruption plays a central role in the onset and pathophysiology of DCM (19,20). In addition to hyperglycemia, systemic insulin resistance, increased fatty acids production and impaired myocardial insulin signaling are the major metabolic abnormalities in DM2 involved in the pathogenesis of DCM and are all positively correlated with the excessive dietary intake of refined carbohydrate, specially fructose-containing sugars (19,21).

Taking this in account, the studies have demonstrated that the rise in DM2 prevalence occurred in parallel with the enhanced dietary sugar intake and support the arguments that hepatic fructose metabolism is a central link between DM2 and DMC, independently of body mass index (BMI), obesity and caloric intake (21).

Thus, the aim of this study was to investigate and characterize the role of an early exposure to high-sucrose diet in inducing metabolic abnormalities compatible with a DM2 status and the development of histological markers of pathological cardiac remodeling associated with the onset of DCM in male rats.

METHODS

Animals, experimental groups and study design

For this study, Wistar-Hannover rats were provided by Federal University of Maranhão animal facility house and all the experimental protocols were approved by the Committee for Ethics and Welfare on Animal Use – CEUA, under register number 23115.007690/2016-10.

After weaning, (postnatal day 21), the animals were randomized in two groups: control group (CTR, n=8), fed with standard chow (Nuvital®, Nuvilab, Brazil) and the high-sucrose diet group (HSD, n=8), fed with a 25% enriched sucrose chow manufactured as previously described (22). The animals were maintained under environmental controlled conditions (temperature: 22 ± 3 °C; humidity: 60 % and 12h light/dark cycle) with airflow and free access to water and chow for 14 weeks, until the postnatal day 120 (young adults).

During the dietary intervention period, body weight and food intake were measured twice a week. Additionally, blood samples were collected after 8h fasting period for biochemical measurements (glycemia, triglyceridemia and serum total cholesterol levels) at 30, 60, 90 and 120 postnatal days.

At the end of the follow-up (postnatal day 120), after 8 hours fasting, the animals were anesthetized (40:10 mg/kg ketamine:xylazine solution) and euthanized by decapitation. By laparotomic surgical approach were obtained organs and tissue samples for weighing, morphometric and histological analysis (to know: peri epidydimal, retroperitoneal and mesenteric fat tissues, central lobe of the liver, soleus and gastrocnemius skeletal muscles and heart) as well as blood samples for biochemical assessment.

Diets composition

The CTR chow, according to manufacturer, is composed by: 55.4% total carbohydrate (10% sucrose), 21% protein, 5.2% total lipids, totaling 3.52 kcal/g. In the other hand, the HSD is composed by: 65% total carbohydrate (25% sucrose),12.3% protein, 4.3% total lipids, totaling 3.48 kcal/g (22). Thus, although the HSD presents higher carbohydrates proportion, both chows have very similar caloric composition, allowing a focused evaluation of effects macronutrients *per si* in animal metabolism, without interference of a primary dietary energy surplus.

Assessment of glucose-insulin axis function

In order to assess glucose-insulin axis, at 30, 60, 90 days of life and in the last week of follow up, were performed intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test (ipGTT) and intraperitoneal insulin tolerance test (ipITT). For ipGTT, animals undergone an 8h fasting period prior to administration of glucose at dose of 2 g/kg. For glycemia measurement with a glucometer (Accucheck Active®, Roche Diagnostic, Germany), tail vein blood drops were collected immediately before (time 0) and 15, 30, 60 and 120 min after glucose load as previously described by our research group (9,10). For the ipITT, animals were fed and received 1 UI/kg insulin (Humulin 70/30®, Lilly, USA) and, then, blood samples were collected at time 0, 5, 15, 18 and 20 min for glycemic measurements (23). The insulin resistance was evaluated with the Fasting triglycerides-glucose (TyG) index calculation [In (fasting glucose (mg/dL) × fasting triglyceride (mg/dL)) / 2], recently suggested to be a marker of hepatic insulin resistance (9,10) and as a potentially useful tool for predicting T2DM development in clinical practice (24).

Cardiovascular characterization

The Cardiovascular data were obtained by Panlab® non-invasive blood pressure measurement device, model LE 5002, used to measure systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP), mean arterial pressure (MAP) and heart rate (HR). For this purpose, the animals were immobilized with a containment device after they have passed through a 3-5 minutes period in a chamber heated to 40°C so that dilation of the blood vessels of the tail occurs. A reliable value corresponds to the average of 3 consecutive measurements.

Histology Samples Preparation

For this purpose, cross-sectional cut of the ventricle was made at the midpoint between the cardiac apex and the atrioventricular groove, at the level of papillary muscle. The samples were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 24 hours, after which, underwent dehydration process and were embedded in paraffin blocks. Then, slices of 5µm thickness were obtained from the embedded samples. For visualization of the muscular components (in red) and of the fibrotic

tissue (in blue), it was used Masson's Trichrome staining (MTS) technique, as described elsewhere (25,26).

Diabetic Cardiomyopathy Histological Parameters

To investigate and characterize the pathological cardiac remodeling features associated with DCM, the slides of ventricle samples were photographed using an optical microscope coupled to a Nikon Eclipse Ti-U image acquisition system. The images obtained were then analyzed using the Fiji-ImageJ v1.52 software with semi-automated methodology standardized by our research team for determination of the following parameters: total myocardial area, left ventricular free wall thickness, perivascular fibrosis, interstitial fibrosis, and cellular hypertrophy.

Initially the images were processed to standardize and equilibrate levels of brightness and contrast. In order to assess the rates of interstitial and perivascular fibrosis, the Trainable Weka Segmentation plug-in, free provided by the Fiji-ImageJ software developer, was used to create an algorithm-based color classifier for automatic color segmentation in MTS samples (red MTS for muscle cardiomyocyte fibers = set as red color; blue MTS for fibrous tissue = set as green color; and the white image background = set as purple color). The correspondence of staining colors and the color segments generated by the algorithm can be very precisely adjusted manually, until a reliable result is achieved. After this step, as a result, the Trainable Weka Segmentation plug-in generated a "color classifier" file that can be loaded and applied on all the sample images automatically. In the sequence, the new produced image files are processed by a "color deconvolution" tool, responsible for the separation of each color component in new image files: fibrous tissue (green), cardiomyocyte muscle fibers (red) and background (purple).

We standardized our methodological approach combining the most described protocols in literature regarding automated and semiautomated histologic analysis of interstitial and perivascular fibrosis (25,27–32), whose efficacy has been already shown to be reliable and in accordance to a pathologist characterization (25,26). For a detailed comprehension of the image processing and software analysis view FIG.1. The percentage of perivascular fibrosis was calculated as the ratio between vessel area (μ m²) and perivascular fibrosis area (μ m²). And the percentage of interstitial fibrosis was obtained as the ratio between the area of interstitial fibrosis (μ m²) and the cardiomyocytes total area (μ m²). For evaluation of muscle hypertrophy, 20x magnification images of cardiomyocytes were obtained on topography of the papillary muscle and the mean crosssectional area (μ m2) of 100 cardiomyocytes per sample was calculated (33,34).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using Graph-Pad Prism 7.0 software (GraphPad Software Inc., USA) and data was expressed as mean \pm SEM and compared by means of unpaired t test (one-tailed) for a significant difference of 5% (p<0.05).

RESULTS

Early exposure to high-sucrose diet leads to metabolic abnormalities compatible with a type 2 diabetes phenotype, without the occurrence of weight gain

At the end of dietary intervention, both animal groups presented similar body mass (FIG.2 – A) and food intake (FIG.2 – B), however, the

morphometric analysis of the collected tissue samples evidenced that HDS animals had ~25% increased peri-epidydimal adipose tissue(HSD= 1,75 \pm 0,06 *vs*. CTR= 1,40 \pm 0,08; p= 0,0045), while their muscular mass (by means of soleus muscle) was ~9,5% decreased (CTR= 0,042 \pm 0,001 *vs*. HSD= 0,038 \pm 0,0006; p= 0,0405) compared to CTR group (TAB.1), indicating a body mass redistribution, characterized by increased adiposity and a lower muscle mass. This find is in agreement with the absence of weight difference between HSD and CTR groups, once they had a similar food intake. Also, there was no difference in relative mass of heart or liver, suggesting that the metabolic alterations were not intense or prolonged enough to promote structural alterations at tissue levels in these organs.

In addition, post-weaning exposure to HSD was able to induce metabolic disruption by impairing glucose and lipids homeostasis, with serum biochemical profile assessment showing the occurrence of hyperglycemia (HSD= 92,63 \pm 1,832 *vs.* CTR= 85,25 \pm 1,048; p= 0,0018) (FIG.3 – A,B,C) and hypertriglyceridemia (HSD= 131,4 \pm 24,75 *vs.* CTR= 75,46 \pm 15,48; p= 0,0380) (FIG.3 – D,E,F) in the experimental HSD group, without differences in total cholesterol levels (FIG.3 – G,H,I).

In regard to glucose-insulin axis function evaluation CTR and HSD animals were subjected to ipGTT, ipITT and TyG index calculation. In the ipGTT, after administration of glucose bolus, both groups reached glucose peak levels within 15 min and returned to baseline in 2 hours. The area under curve calculation (ipGTT AUC) indicated that the HSD animals had higher glucose intolerance when compared to CTR group (HSD= $168,65 \pm 17,30 \text{ vs. CTR} = 100,27 \pm 14,91$; p<0,05) (FIG.4 – A).

Accordingly, during the ipITT, the HSD animals showed an impaired response to insulin administration, indicating that these animals had increased systemic insulin resistance compared to CTR, as demonstrated by the ipTT AUC calculation (HSD= $131.4 \pm 24.75 vs.$ CTR= 75.46 ± 15.48 ; p= 0.0380) (FIG.4 – B). Once there is a significant association between high sugar intake and increased hepatic triglycerides production with insulin resistance (13.24), the TyG index was calculated and showed that HSD animals had hepatic insulin resistance compared to CTR (HSD= $8.57 \pm 0.21 vs.$ CTR= 7.92 ± 0.20 ; p < 0.05) (FIG.4 – C,D,E).

In summary, our results evidenced that the post-weaning exposure to HSD was able to promote increased visceral adiposity and loss of lean mass without changes in food intake or body weight and also promote metabolic disruption, with impaired glucose and lipids homeostasis resulting in hypertriglyceridemia, hyperglycemia and hepatic and systemic insulin resistance, the main markers of DM2 onset.

High-sucrose diet induces alterations in cardiovascular physiology leading to increased arterial pressure values

In the last week of follow up, the mean of heart rate (HR), mean arterial pressure (MAP), systolic (SBP) and diastolic (DSP) blood pressure were obtained to evaluate the effects of the experimental high-sucrose diet on the cardiovascular parameters (FIG.5). As result, the HSD animals exhibited higher levels of systolic (HSD= $157,9 \pm 3,812 vs.$ CTR= $130,3 \pm 7,612$; p= 0,0158) (FIG.5 – B) and diastolic (HSD= $128,9 \pm 5,547 vs.$ CTR= $107,8 \pm 3,323$; p= 0,0155) (FIG.5 – D) blood pressures compared to control, while no differences were observed in HR or MAP.

This way, post-weaning intake of the high-sucrose diet can induce early onset of cardiovascular disturbs, resulting in increased systolic and diastolic blood pressure, consequently promoting a higher risk of cardiovascular fatal and non-fatal events in younger ages.

High-sucrose-induced DM2 is associated with histological alterations compatible with pre-clinical stage of DCM

In order to investigate the occurrence of tissue level concentric hypertrophy characteristic of later stages of DCM (19), we evaluated, using the histological slides images, the total myocardial area (FIG.6) and also the thickness of left ventricle free wall (FIG.7) and found that, nevertheless, there were no significant differences between the experimental groups. So, we proceeded to investigate earlier pathologic structural and cellular abnormalities in the ventricle samples.

In this regard, our histological analysis showed that, although there was no evidence of interstitial fibrosis (FIG.8) compatible with significant diastolic relaxation impairment, there was higher ratios of perivascular fibrosis (HSD= $3,174 \pm 0,4327 \ vs. \ CTR= 1,442 \pm 0,2473; \ p= 0,0042$) (FIG.9) and cardiomyocyte cellular hypertrophy (HSD= 767987 ± 49121 vs. CTR= 570501 ± 29097; p= 0,0043) (FIG.10), which, in turn, are findings related to initial stages of DCM, during transition from pro-adaptative to maladaptive alterations.

Thus, the early exposition to our experimental high-sucrose diet was capable to induce pre-clinical DCM in young adult (120 days of life) male rats, showing that DM2 target-organs lesions had early onset and can, consequently, evolve to clinical heart failure in lower ages than expected.

DISCUSSION

The focus of this study was to evaluate the effects of an early exposition to a 25% sucrose enriched diet in the cardiometabolic status and over the cardiac ventricular tissue histological parameters in order to find out if this dietary intervention would anticipate the onset of DM2 and its associated target-organs injuries, such as DCM.

In this context, we observed that, by the end of 120 days of life, both animal groups presented similar body weight and food intake. In fact, literature data indicate that the effects of sucrose-enriched diets on body weight mainly depends on the caloric composition (isocaloric or hypercaloric diets), sucrose concentration, the type of sucrose intake (added to chow or to drinking water) and period of exposition (35–37). As a result of the diversity in methodological approaches, there are divergent metabolic phenotype characterization, but, nevertheless, the evidences indicate that high fructose-containing sugar diet is reliable method to early induce a lean DM2 phenotype (35) with progressive development of obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia and hyperuricemia, thus, further configuring a complete metabolic syndrome phenotype in both animals and human studies (12,36,38).

In agreement with this, in our study, tissue and organ morphometric analysis showed that, despite the absence of difference in weight, HSD animals presented a redistribution of body composition, characterized by increased visceral adiposity and reduced lean mass, suggesting that a longer period of dietary intervention would, as well, result in higher body weight compared to CTR.

In regard to food intake, we found no differences between experimental groups and the literature evidences are also controversial. Even though the high palatability of added sugars foods can activate the neural reward systems and

lead to hyperphagia (39), some studies have reported different results in regard to food intake (10,40,41). Actually, there are several controversies in respect to fructose and/or glucose actions over the hypothalamic regulation of appetite and satiety and its modulation by diet composition, single effects of glucose and fructose on insulin and anorexigenic and orexigenic hormone responses, period of dietary exposition and metabolic profile (42–44).

It is though that the initial stimulus to enhanced added-sugar food intake, after a period of time, can undergo a neuroadaptative process mediated by the organism response to increased sugar intake and its metabolic products, thus, leading to abnormalities in hypothalamic appetite regulation and suppression of reward system as a protective mechanism against the metabolic stress state (42,45–47).

More recently, it has been suggested the important role of the carbohydrate-induced expression of Fibroblast Growth Factor (FGF)-21 as a modulator of sugar intake and sweet taste preference by inducing satiety signals to suppress sugar intake and also stimulating lipids beta-oxidation, emerging, this way, as a potential protective mechanism against excessive sugar intake and metabolism disruption associated to fructose component of sucrose (16,48)

In the metabolic context, fructose hepatic metabolism is thought to be the main factor associated to DM2 development. In contrast to glucose, that is widely distributed through circulation and absorbed by insulin sensitive tissues such adipocytes and muscles, around 90% of ingested fructose is absorbed by the liver, where it is rapidly metabolized into fructose-1-phosphate by fructokinase. While the glycolytic pathway is strictly regulated by hormones, cell energy status and subjected to several rate-limiting steps, the fructolytic pathway has more

intense metabolic activity (fructokinase is around 10 times more active than glucokinase), is independent of hormonal, insensitive to cell ATP/ADP ratios, it is not feedback inhibited and converges with end step of glycolysis pathway in trio-phosphates production bypassing all the regulatory and limiting steps of glucose degradation.

As consequence, fructolysis generates large amount of substrates that can be used to ATP production or, given the excess trio-phosphates availability, in the intermediate metabolism to produce carbohydrates and lipids via gluconeogenesis and DNL pathways, respectively. In addition to that, fructose is reported to be a potent inducer of lipogenesis and gluconeogenesis programming in the liver, via activation of transcription factors SREBP-1c (Sterol Regulatory Element-Binding Protein – 1c) and ChREBP (Carbohydrate-Responsive Element-Binding Protein), further contributing for enhanced hepatic glucose production and triacylglycerol exportation as VLDL molecules, thus resulting in hyperglycemia and hypertriglyceridemia, typical features of DM2.

In agreement, our study evidenced that since 60 days of life the animals exposed to HSD presented both hyperglycemia and hypertriglyceridemia when compared to CTR group. In recent study of our group, Flister et. al. (49), using the same diets composition, evaluated metabolic parameters and markers of hepatic DNL and stress-sensitive pathways at 30, 60 and 90 days of exposition and found that at 30 days of exposition, HSD animals presented fasting hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia, increased visceral adiposity without weight gain, impaired glucose tolerance and increased levels of ChREBP as well as markers of ER stress and pro-adaptative UPR activation pattern. Once several steps of DNL occur in ER membrane and excessive FA production also leads to misfolded protein accumulation and activates UPR, whose all three arms are involved in lipogenic regulation. In this same work (49), at 60 days of dietary intervention, animals developed full metabolic syndrome phenotype, with increased TAG, levels been associated with hepatic and systemics insulin resistance onset and transition to a pro apoptotic UPR programing activation, resulting in hepatic oxidative damage by 90 days of exposure, showing that this HSD-fed rat is an reliable animal model of DM2 and metabolic syndrome in a time-dependent way.

Interestingly, glucose induced pancreatic insulin release also play role as lipogenic stimuli in liver, thus increasing DNL (14,16). Under upregulated lipogenic states, accumulation of DNL byproducts, such as ceramides and DAG, in hepatocytes have been reported to be central players in development of hepatic insulin resistance via activation of atypical forms of PKC that impairs IRS-PIK3-Akt signaling pathway (50–52). In accordance, when evaluating glucose-insulin axis, we found, as expected, that, increased visceral adiposity and hypertriglyceridemia, indicators of increased sucrose-driven lipogenesis, were accompanied by hepatic and systemic insulin resistance development, evidenced, respectively, by TyG calculation, increased insulin insensitivity in ipITT and increased glucose intolerance.

In comparative study regarding fructose *vs.* glucose hepatic metabolism, Geidl-Flueck and Gerber (14) reunited evidence indicating that fructose may increase hepatic lipogenic programing also in an insulin-independent way, given that LIRKO (Liver Insulin Receptor Knockout) animals, presented high levels of ChREBP and SREBP-1c, as well as DNL enzymes after fructose feeding, even in isocaloric dietary interventions. In addition, Softic et al. (16) demonstrated that

liver fructokinase (a.k.a. ketohexokinase) knockdown was able to improve hepatic lipid intermediates accumulation, liver steatosis and insulin signaling, thus evidencing that fructose is the main pathological component of sucrose contributing to DM2 development.

Another particular feature of fructose hepatic metabolism is the generation of UA, driven by the purine pathway, in response to ADP rise as result of intense consumption of ATP by fructokinase (13,14), consequently leading to serum hyperuricemia, which is considered an additional component of metabolic syndrome as well as a key risk factor for cardiovascular and renal diseases (53,54).

Considering all this, HSD-fed rat figures as a reliable physiological model to induce DM2 metabolic phenotype (hyperglycemia, hypertriglyceridemia and insulin resistance), regardless lack of initial weight gain, with time-dependent progression to a full metabolic syndrome phenotype, as previously demonstrated by our work group (10,40,49) and other experimental studies of animal models of insulin resistance (35) and metabolic syndrome (36). In sequence, to evaluate if this model is also able to induce DM2-related cardiovascular complications, we evaluated cardiovascular parameters and histological markers of cardiac microvascular dysfunction and tissue markers of DCM onset.

Indeed, when investigating the deleterious effects of fructose intake over whole body and local tissues and organs functions, Zhang, Jiao & Kong (55) reunited experimental evidence showed that, in cardiovascular system, high levels of UR and FFA was associated with increased ROS production, increased FA uptake, enhanced AGEs production, higher vascular tonus, local inflammatory

activation and hypertension, as well as lower insulin sensitivity, less glucose usage and impaired endothelial-dependent vasorelaxation.

In accordance, in our study, by the end of follow up period, the HSD animals exhibited systolic and diastolic hypertension, in comparison to CTR group, at 120 days of life, thus proving that exposition to fructose-containing sugars in early life nutrition lead to premature onset of cardiovascular disease by the age of young adults. Despite divergent results concerning fructose-induced hypertension, comparative studies (36,56,57) have already reinforced this animal model as a reliable promoter of hypertension. Contrary findings been associated to insufficient sucrose/fructose dietary concentrations and/or to insufficient exposure time(36,57).

Corroborating our findings, Villegas-Romero et al. (58) studied the effects of post-weaning exposure to 30% fructose-enriched drinking water in both short term (critical post-weaning window: from 12 to 28 days of life) and long term (until 7 months age) and found that both groups developed, in early adulthood, arterial hypertension in similar levels and that it was associated with decreased endothelial production of NO by eNOS, increased ROS production, decrease of antioxidant systems and impaired endothelial-dependent vasorelaxation in a context of insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia, whereas long term exposure was also related to increased TG and vasoconstrictor molecules production (ET-1). In addition, other experimental studies have also demonstrated the important roles of oxidative stress and inflammation (59), increased RAAS (Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System) (60,61), hyperuricemia (59,62) and also impaired baroreflex sensitivity and sympatho-vagal imbalance (63,64) in the physiopathology of fructose induced Hypertension.

Although the mechanisms of fructose-induced hypertension have not been completely clarified, literature points that the unique ability of fructolytic pathway to increase uric acid production figures as a central factor (65,66) in inducing endothelial dysfunction, vascular oxidative stress, inflammation and vessel smooth muscle cells proliferation, thus leading to increased vascular tonus, impaired endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation, arterial stiffness and resulting in hypertension and increased atherogenic potential (53,56,67). Moreover, hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia, oxidative stress and consequent increase in sympathetic nervous system activity, renin-angiotensin system activation and increased production of vasoconstrictors are also implicated in hypertension development after fructose-containing sugars intake (56,67,68).

In fact, fructose-induced excessive UA production is a potent intracellular mediator of oxidative stress, once it can activate NADPH oxidase, thus, increasing ROS production and also reducing, in circulation and target-organs, NO bioavailability via endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) uncoupling, leading to generation of peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻), and setting a vicious cycle of oxidative stress that impairs even more endothelial function (53,69,70). In addition, redox-sensitive activation of NF-kB in endothelial cells results in a pro-inflammatory status that favors monocytes infiltration, activate growth factors and induce VSMC proliferation, pro-inflammatory cytokines release and arterial stiffness, thus, increasing vascular tonus and accelerating atherogenesis (59,71).

Other features of sucrose/fructose-induced DM2, such as insulin resistance, hyperinsulinemia, hyperglycemia and increased visceral adiposity are also implied in hypertension through several mechanisms (56,68), such AGE formation (72), increased sympathetic nervous system activity (63,73), RAAS

system (60,74), and increased production of other vasoconstrictors like endothelin-1 (58,75).

In regard to cardiac tissue involvement, although long-term hypertension, by itself, is associated with cardiac alterations and development of concentric hypertrophy, DM2-associated abnormalities can directly lead to pathological cardiac remodeling, further resulting in DCM phenotype.

In this sense, Kamide et al (61) demonstrated that, in fructose-fed rats that presented hypertension, increased sympathetic activity and left ventricle hypertrophy, the isolated pharmacological control of blood pressure was not able to improve ventricular alterations while, Ang II AT1 receptor blockage was not only able to reduce arterial pressure levels but also improved heart hypertrophy, suggesting that, cardiac alterations, actually, were less dependent of systemic hypertension and more linked to metabolic disruption context induced by fructose intake, in which RAAS systemic and local activation has been described.

Given the high energy demand and intense metabolic activity of cardiac muscle, any disturbance in metabolic status and substrates availability or usage may directly affect myocardial structure and function, leading to DCM onset (76–78). In physiological conditions, the main energy source in the heart is β -oxidation of fatty acids (accounting around 60-70% of energy production), followed by glycolytic metabolism, that responds for 30-40% of ATP synthesis (77,79). However, in diabetic subjects, the rise in circulation FA availability and uptake by the heart and the impaired utilization of glucose as an energetic substrate as consequence of DM2-induced insulin resistance are pointed, in fact, as the main initiating factors associated with DCM development (80,81).

Under these conditions, the cardiac metabolism becomes more limited to use FA as substrate and mostly relies in β -oxidation to ATP production, reflecting, this way, loss of "metabolic flexibility" – the cardiomyocytes capacity to use different molecules as substrates, including fatty acids, glucose, lactate, ketone bodies and amino acids – to equilibrate energy demand and production, in order to guarantee contractile efficiency and adequate cardiac output to systemic circulation (76,79,82).

While this shift to FA utilization it initially takes place as an adaptative mechanism, given the fact that β -oxidation produces larger amounts of ATP than glycolytic pathway, it occurs under costs of higher oxygen consumption and further results in uncoupling of energy production and metabolic demand, progressively resulting in cardiac contractile dysfunction. Actually, high circulation levels of FA are found to upregulate membrane expression of FA transport proteins in DM2, such FABP and CD36, leading to excessive FA uptake by cardiomyocytes.

The increase in intracellular fatty acids, in addition, leads to activation of nuclear transcription factor PPAR α (peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor α), a key regulator of enzymes involved in mitochondrial β -oxidation, that promotes FA utilization and, thus, make temporarily possible to maintain energy production during the adaptative phase of DCM (78,83,84). Moreover, PPAR α mediate PDK4 (Pyruvate Dehydrogenase Kinase 4) activation, that suppress PDH (Pyruvate Dehydrogenase), a key enzyme in glycolytic pathway, consequently contributing to greater impairment in cardiomyocyte glucose utilization (84–86).

However, FA uptake markedly overloads mitochondrial oxidative capacity, thus, leading to mitochondrial structural and functional alterations, resulting in electron transport chain inefficiency (20,87). In this scenario, dysfunctional mitochondrial is associated with increased ROS production, oxidative stress, impaired Ca⁺⁺ handling, myocardial lipids accumulation and lipotoxicity, then, been pointed as the major contributor to contractile dysfunction in DCM (19,88– 90).

Following that, FA accumulate in cytosol, where they are directed to lipogenic pathways and promote myocardial lipids accumulation as TAG molecules (cardiac steatosis), as well as accumulation of lipotoxic byproducts, such as ceramides and diacylglycerols, that are associated with development of cardiac insulin resistance, via impairment of insulin receptor activity (83,87,91).

In parallel, increased myocardial lipids synthesis raises cytoplasmatic levels of malonyl-CoA, that decrease FA transport through mitochondrial membrane via inhibition of carnitine acyl transferase I transporter (CAT I), thus, contributing to energy depletion, decreased cardiac efficiency and further progression to systolic dysfunction (91–93). Also, accumulation of ceramides and DAG have been associated with cardiomyocytes apoptosis, myocardial fibrosis, hypertrophy, impaired diastolic filling and contractile dysfunction (87,91).

Taken together, oxidative stress, lipotoxicity, mitochondrial dysfunction, hyperuricemia and NK-kB mediated pro-inflammatory programming activation impairs ER function and lead to accumulation of misfolded proteins, thus triggering the UPR. Under persistent metabolic cellular stress, UPR shifts to proapoptotic response, leading to cardiomyocytes death (81,94).

As well, intracellular calcium homeostasis is key factor underlying cardiac excitation-contraction coupling, and reuptake of cytosolic Ca⁺⁺ to its main storage site, the ER, is fundamental for cardiomyocyte diastolic relaxation (20,95). In DCM rodent models, it has been described impaired activity of SERCA2a (ATP-dependent sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca⁺⁺-ATPase 2a), sarcolemma Na⁺/Ca⁺⁺ exchanger and also decreased mitochondrial Ca⁺⁺ uptake, resulting in increased cytosolic Ca⁺⁺ concentrations, slower Ca⁺⁺ transients, prolongation of intracellular Ca⁺⁺ decay and impaired Ca⁺⁺ reuptake by sarcoplasmic reticulum (20,83,95), consequently promoting prolonged action potential duration and diastolic relaxation time and, by this means, contributing to impaired ventricular relaxation seen in early stages of DCM(19).

In our study, after the dietary intervention, histological analysis showed that HSD animals presented increased perivascular fibrosis and cardiomyocytes hypertrophy, although they did not develop interstitial fibrosis or hypertrophy at tissue level, thus, characterizing a pre-clinical stage of early onset DCM. In agreement with this, the literature points that cellular and structural alterations, that further results in diastolic dysfunction, only occurs after the transition from a pro-adaptative to a maladaptive cardiac response in consequence of intense and/or prolonged metabolic stress in the diabetic heart.

Similarly, in early stage DM2 rats fed with 10% fructose in drinking water for 6 weeks, Lou et al. (93), showed that tissue cardiac structural changes are preceded by fatty acid metabolism alterations, related to increased myocardial oxidative stress, inflammation, metabolic inflexibility, mitochondrial overload. Moreover, Nunes et al (96), Zhang et al. (97) and Xie (98) demonstrated, in

different experimental studies, that, increasing fructose concentration and time of exposure is able to induce cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and cardiac fibrosis.

In this context, among the resulting cardiac structural abnormalities, perivascular fibrosis and hypertrophy figure among the earliest findings. Mechanistically, cardiomyocytes hypertrophy occurs as an adaptative response, but, in the presence of prolonged mechanical or physiological stress, it may undergo a maladaptive phenotype, leading to deterioration of cardiac function (77,99,100).

Hypertrophy and perivascular fibrosis usually present together in consequence of inflammation, increased activity of metalloproteinases, stimulation of pro-fibrotic mediators and growth factors (100–102). More recently, DM2 driven activation of systemic and tissue renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system have also been demonstrated to activate signaling pathways involved in cardiomyocytes hypertrophy as well as perivascular and interstitial fibrosis (19,101,103). By its turn, perivascular fibrosis represents an important cardiac microvascular complication of DM2 and may lead, along with endothelial dysfunction, to a decrease in oxygen and glucose delivery in coronary circulation, thus progressively impairing cardiac efficiency (101,104). In fact, cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and fibrosis have been associated with diastolic dysfunction in animal models of DCM, including fructose intake dietary models (83,97,105,106).

CONCLUSIONS

Taken together, literature evidence and the findings pointed by our study show that post-weaning exposition to high-sucrose diet represents a reliable physiological model of DM2 onset with early development of DCM in its initial pre-clinical phase. In this context, fructose hepatic metabolism, due its lack

of inhibitory regulation, higher activity and insensitivity to cellular energy status, play a key role in the development of DM2-driven metabolic abnormalities. Fructose component of sucrose not only provide higher amounts of substrates, but also acts as a potent inductor of hepatic DNL and gluconeogenesis, resulting in hyperglycemia, hypertriglyceridemia, insulin resistance and, in addition, to hyperuricemia even in the absence of weight gain.

Moreover, DM2 metabolic alterations promotes vascular oxidative stress, eNOS uncoupling, pro-inflammatory programming activation, endothelial dysfunction, VSMCs proliferation, higher production of vasoconstrictor molecules such as Ang II and ET-1 and increased sympathetic activity. As consequence, increased vascular tonus, impaired endothelium-dependent relaxation and arterial stiffness, thus, result in arterial hypertension. In addition, the increased FA supply and impaired usage of glucose by cardiac metabolism leads to loss of cardiac metabolic flexibility, restrings ATP production to FA β -oxidation, activate PPAR α transcription factors, impairing even more glucose metabolic pathway and progressively overloading mitochondrial metabolic capacity, resulting in mitochondrial dysfunction, that are thought to be the central initial factors in DCM physiopathology.

Considering this, dietary interventions to reduce sucrose/fructose containing diets consumption and a bigger comprehension of hepatic and cardiac metabolic pathways cross-talk emerge as potential therapeutic targets to decrease DM2 associated cardiovascular diseases, DCM development and to avoid progression to symptomatic heart failure, thus reducing mortality rates in this population. In the same way, it is essential to increase investigation of initial

alterations, establish consensual diagnostic criteria and focused therapeutic approach during the initial pre-clinical phases of DCM.

ACKNOWLEGDMENTS

Authors are thankful to LeFisio's staff for all the support during execution of this study.

FINANCIAL SUPPORT

This study received financial support from Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa e ao Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico do Maranhão – FAPEMA and also from Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico – CNPq.

CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

Authors declare the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

- 1. International Diabetes Federation. Diabetes Atlas. 2017.
- Nashida DC, Montez DJ, Branca DF. Guideline : Sugars intake for adults and children. WHO Dep Nutr Heal Dev. 2015;
- Newens KJ, Walton J. A review of sugar consumption from nationally representative dietary surveys across the world. J Hum Nutr Diet. 2016;29(2):225–40.
- Guardamagna O, Abello F, Cagliero P, Lughetti L. Impact of nutrition since early life on cardiovascular prevention. Ital J Pediatr. Italian Journal of Pediatrics; 2012;38(1):1.
- Reynolds CM, Gray C, Li M, Segovia SA, Vickers MH. Early life nutrition and energy balance disorders in offspring in later life. Nutrients. 2015;7(9):8090–111.
- Stanhope KL. Sugar consumption, metabolic disease and obesity: The state of the controversy. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci. Taylor & Francis; 2016 Jan 2;53(1):52–67.
- Macdonald IA. A review of recent evidence relating to sugars, insulin resistance and diabetes. Eur J Nutr. Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2016;55(s2):17–23.
- Weber KS, Simon MC, Strassburger K, Markgraf DF, Buyken AE, Szendroedi J, et al. Habitual fructose intake relates to insulin sensitivity and fatty liver index in recent-onset type 2 diabetes patients and individuals without diabetes. Nutrients. 2018;10(6).

- Pinto BAS, Melo TM, Flister KFT, França LM, Kajihara D, Tanaka LY, et al. Early and sustained exposure to high-sucrose diet triggers hippocampal ER stress in young rats. Metab Brain Dis. 2016;31(4):917–27.
- Sousa RML, Ribeiro NLX, Pinto BAS, Sanches JR, da Silva MU, Coêlho CFF, et al. Long-term high-protein diet intake reverts weight gain and attenuates metabolic dysfunction on high-sucrose-fed adult rats. Nutr Metab (Lond). BioMed Central; 2018;15:53.
- Goodpaster BH, Sparks LM. Metabolic flexibility in health and disease.
 2018;25(5):1027–36.
- Campos VC, Tappy L. Physiological handling of dietary fructose-containing sugars: implications for health. Int J Obes. Nature Publishing Group; 2016;40(S1):S6–11.
- Jegatheesan P, De Bandt JP. Fructose and NAFLD: The multifaceted aspects of fructose metabolism. Nutrients. 2017;9(3):1–13.
- Geidl-Flueck B, Gerber PA. Insights into the hexose liver metabolism glucose versus fructose. Nutrients. 2017;9(9).
- Hannou SA, Haslam DE, McKeown NM, Herman MA. Fructose metabolism and metabolic disease. J Clin Invest. 2018;128(2):545–55.
- Softic S, Gupta MK, Wang G-X, Fujisaka S, O'Neill BT, Rao TN, et al. Divergent effects of glucose and fructose on hepatic lipogenesis and insulin signaling. J Clin Invest. 2017;127(11):4059–74.
- 17. Lee WS, Kim J. Diabetic cardiomyopathy: Where we are and where we are going. Korean J Intern Med. 2017;32(3):404–21.

- Alonso N, Moliner P, Mauricio D. Pathogenesis, Clinical Features and Treatment of Diabetic Cardiomyopathy. In: Adv Exp Med Biol. 2017.
- Jia G, Hill MA, Sowers JR. Diabetic cardiomyopathy: An update of mechanisms contributing to this clinical entity. Circ Res. 2018;122(4):624– 38.
- Sung MM, Hamza SM, Dyck JRB. Myocardial Metabolism in Diabetic Cardiomyopathy: Potential Therapeutic Targets. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2015;22(17):1606–30.
- Delbridge LMD, Benson VL, Ritchie RH, Mellor KM. Diabetic cardiomyopathy: The case for a role of fructose in disease etiology. Diabetes. 2016;65(12):3521–8.
- 22. De Lima DC, Silveira SA, Haibara AS, Coimbra CC. The enhanced hyperglycemic response to hemorrhage hypotension in obese rats is related to an impaired baroreflex. Metab Brain Dis. 2008;23(4):361–73.
- Rafacho A, Roma LP, Taboga SR, Boschero AC, Bosqueiro JR. Dexamethasone-induced insulin resistance is associated with increased connexin 36 mRNA and protein expression in pancreatic rat islets. Can J Physiol Pharmacol. 2007 May;85(5):536–45.
- Low S, Khoo KCJ, Irwan B, Sum CF, Subramaniam T, Lim SC, et al. The role of triglyceride glucose index in development of Type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2018 Sep;143:43–9.
- Daunoravicius D, Besusparis J, Zurauskas E, Laurinaviciene A, Bironaite D, Pankuweit S, et al. Quantification of myocardial fibrosis by digital image analysis and interactive stereology. Diagn Pathol. 2014;9(1):1–10.

- Schipke J, Brandenberger C, Rajces A, Manninger M, Alogna A, Post H, et al. Assessment of cardiac fibrosis: a morphometric method comparison for collagen quantification. J Appl Physiol. 2017;122(4):1019–30.
- 27. Galati G, Leone O, Pasquale F, Olivotto I, Biagini E, Grigioni F, et al. Histological and histometric characterization of myocardial fibrosis in endstage hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Circ Hear Fail. 2016;9(9).
- 28. Hadi a M, Mouchaers KT, Schalij I, Grunberg K, Meijer G a, Vonk-Noordegraaf a, et al. Rapid quantification of myocardial fibrosis: A new macro-based automated analysis. Anal Cell Pathol. 2010;33(5):257–69.
- Chen Y, Yu Q, Xu CB. A convenient method for quantifying collagen fibers in atherosclerotic lesions by imagej software. Int J Clin Exp Med. 2017;10(10):14904–10.
- Cantarero L. Introduction to Image Processing and Object Segmentation using Fiji / ImageJ. Apostila. 2017;
- 31. Ross J. Using the Colour Deconvolution plugin in ImageJ. 2014;
- 32. Hernández-Morera P, Castaño-González I, Travieso-González CM, Mompeó-Corredera B, Ortega-Santana F. Quantification and statistical analysis methods for vessel wall components from stained images with Masson's trichrome. PLoS One. 2016;11(1):1–18.
- Baudouy D, Michiels J-F, Vukolic A, Wagner K-D, Wagner N. Echocardiographic and histological examination of cardiac morphology in the mouse. J Vis Exp. 2017;2017(128):1–9.
- 34. Leopoldo AS, Sugizaki MM, Lima-Leopoldo AP, do Nascimento AF, Luvizotto RDAM, de Campos DHS, et al. Cardiac remodeling in a rat model

of diet-induced obesity. Can J Cardiol. 2010;26(8):423–9.

- Sah SP, Singh B, Choudhary S, Kumar A. Animal models of insulin resistance: A review. Pharmacol Reports. Institute of Pharmacology, Polish Academy of Sciences; 2016;68(6):1165–77.
- Wong SK, Chin KY, Suhaimi FH, Fairus A, Ima-Nirwana S. Animal models of metabolic syndrome: a review. Nutr Metab. Nutrition & Metabolism; 2016;13(1):1–12.
- 37. Aydin S, Aksoy A, Aydin S, Kalayci M, Yilmaz M, Kuloglu T, et al. Today's and yesterday's of pathophysiology: Biochemistry of metabolic syndrome and animal models. Nutrition. Elsevier Inc.; 2014;30(1):1–9.
- Johnson RJ, Sánchez-Lozada LG, Andrews P, Lanaspa MA. Perspective:
 A Historical and Scientific Perspective of Sugar and Its Relation with Obesity and Diabetes. Adv Nutr An Int Rev J. 2017 May 15;8(3):412–22.
- Wiss DA, Avena N, Rada P. Sugar Addiction: From Evolution to Revolution.
 Front Psychiatry. Frontiers; 2018 Nov 7;9:545.
- Pinto BAS, Melo TM, Flister KFT, França LM, Kajihara D, Tanaka LY, et al.
 Early and sustained exposure to high-sucrose diet triggers hippocampal
 ER stress in young rats. Metab Brain Dis. 2016 Aug 7;31(4):917–27.
- Flister KFT, Pinto BAS, França LM, Coêlho CFF, dos Santos PC, Vale CC, et al. Long-term exposure to high-sucrose diet down-regulates hepatic endoplasmic reticulum-stress adaptive pathways and potentiates de novo lipogenesis in weaned male mice. J Nutr Biochem. 2018 Dec 19;62:155– 66.
- 42. Murray S, Tulloch A, Criscitelli K, Avena NM. Recent studies of the effects

of sugars on brain systems involved in energy balance and reward: Relevance to low calorie sweeteners. Physiol Behav. Elsevier Inc.; 2016;164:504–8.

- Stanhope KL. Sugar consumption, metabolic disease and obesity: The state of the controversy. 2015;53(June):1–21.
- Carreiro AL, Dhillon J, Gordon S, Higgins KA, Jacobs AG, McArthur BM, et al. The Macronutrients, Appetite, and Energy Intake. Annu Rev Nutr. 2016;36:73–103.
- Tulloch AJ, Murray S, Vaicekonyte R, Avena NM. Neural responses to macronutrients: Hedonic and homeostatic mechanisms. Gastroenterology. Elsevier, Inc; 2015;148(6):1205–18.
- Lane MD, Cha SH. Effect of glucose and fructose on food intake via malonyl-CoA signaling in the brain. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2009 Apr 24;382(1):1–5.
- 47. Klockars A, Levine AS, Olszewski PK. Central Oxytocin and Food Intake:
 Focus on Macronutrient-Driven Reward. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne).
 2015 Apr 28;6:65.
- 48. lizuka K. The role of carbohydrate response element binding protein in intestinal and hepatic fructose metabolism. Nutrients. 2017;9(2):1–12.
- Flister KFT, Pinto BAS, França LM, Coêlho CFF, dos Santos PC, Vale CC, et al. Long-term exposure to high-sucrose diet down-regulates hepatic endoplasmic reticulum-stress adaptive pathways and potentiates de novo lipogenesis in weaned male mice. J Nutr Biochem. Elsevier Inc.; 2018;62:155–66.

- Herman MA, Samuel VT. The Sweet Path to Metabolic Demise: Fructose and Lipid Synthesis. Trends Endocrinol Metab. Elsevier Ltd; 2016;27(10):719–30.
- 51. Crescenzo R, Cigliano L, Mazzoli A, Cancelliere R, Carotenuto R, Tussellino M, et al. Early effects of a low fat, fructose-rich diet on liver metabolism, insulin signaling, and oxidative stress in young and adult rats. Front Physiol. 2018;9(APR):1–14.
- 52. Nair J, Velpandian T, Das US, Sharma P, Nag T, Mathur SR, et al. Molecular and Metabolic Markers of Fructose Induced Hepatic Insulin Resistance in Developing and Adult Rats are Distinct and Aegle marmelos is an Effective Modulator. Sci Rep. Springer US; 2018;8(1):1–18.
- Caliceti C, Calabria D, Roda A, Cicero AFG. Fructose intake, serum uric acid, and cardiometabolic disorders: A critical review. Nutrients. 2017;9(4):1–15.
- Rosset R, Surowska A, Tappy L. Pathogenesis of Cardiovascular and Metabolic Diseases: Are Fructose-Containing Sugars More Involved Than Other Dietary Calories? Curr Hypertens Rep. 2016;18(6):1–8.
- Zhang DM, Jiao RQ, Kong LD. High dietary fructose: Direct or indirect dangerous factors disturbing tissue and organ functions. Nutrients. 2017;9(4).
- Tran LT, Yuen VG, McNeill JH. The fructose-fed rat: A review on the mechanisms of fructose-induced insulin resistance and hypertension. Mol Cell Biochem. 2009;332(1–2):145–59.
- 57. Lehnen AM, Rodrigues B, Irigoyen MC, De Angelis K, Schaan BDA.

Cardiovascular changes in animal models of metabolic syndrome. J Diabetes Res. 2013;2013.

- 58. Villegas-Romero M, Castrejón-Téllez V, Pérez-Torres I, Rubio-Ruiz ME, Carreón-Torres E, Díaz-Díaz E, et al. Short-term exposure to high sucrose levels near weaning has a similar long-lasting effect on hypertension as a long-term exposure in rats. Nutrients. 2018;10(6):1–20.
- Bernardes N, Ayyappan P, Angelis K De, Bagchi A. Excessive consumption of fructose causes cardiometabolic dysfunctions through oxidative stress and inflammation. Can J Physiol Pharmacol. 2016;(204):1–60.
- 60. Jia G, Aroor AR, Hill MA, Sowers JR. Role of Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System Activation in Promoting Cardiovascular Fibrosis and Stiffness. Hypertension. 2018;HYPERTENSIONAHA.118.11065.
- 61. Kamide K, Rakugi H, Higaki J, Okamura A, Nagai M, Moriguchi K, et al. The renin-angiotensin and adrenergic nervous system in cardiac hypertrophy in fructose-fed rats. Am J Hypertens. 2002;15(1):66–71.
- Ramos-Romero S, Hereu M, Atienza L, Casas J, Jáuregui O, Amézqueta S, et al. Mechanistically different effects of fat and sugar on insulin resistance, hypertension, and gut microbiota in rats. Am J Physiol Metab. 2018 Jun 1;314(6):E552–63.
- 63. dos Santos F, Moraes-Silva IC, Moreira ED, Irigoyen MC. The role of the baroreflex and parasympathetic nervous system in fructose-induced cardiac and metabolic alterations. Sci Rep. Springer US; 2018;8(1):1–9.
- 64. Bernardes N, Da Silva Dias D, Stoyell-Conti FF, De Oliveira Brito-Monzani

J, Malfitano C, Caldini EG, et al. Baroreflex Impairment Precedes Cardiometabolic Dysfunction in an Experimental Model of Metabolic Syndrome: Role of Inflammation and Oxidative Stress. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):1–10.

- 65. Ndrepepa G. Uric acid and cardiovascular disease. Clin Chim Acta. Elsevier; 2018;484(May):150–63.
- Caliceti C, Calabria D, Roda A, Cicero A. Fructose Intake, Serum Uric Acid, and Cardiometabolic Disorders: A Critical Review. Nutrients. 2017;9(4):395.
- Dupas J, Feray A, Goanvec C, Guernec A, Samson N, Bougaran P, et al. Metabolic Syndrome and Hypertension Resulting from Fructose Enriched Diet in Wistar Rats. Biomed Res Int. 2017;2017.
- Klein AV, Kiat H. The mechanisms underlying fructose-induced hypertension: a review. J Hypertens. Wolters Kluwer Health; 2015 May;33(5):912–20.
- Kayama Y, Raaz U, Jagger A, Adam M, Schellinger IN, Sakamoto M, et al. Diabetic cardiovascular disease induced by oxidative stress. Int J Mol Sci. 2015;16(10):25234–63.
- Kanbay M, Jensen T, Solak Y, Le M, Roncal-Jimenez C, Rivard C, et al. Uric acid in metabolic syndrome: From an innocent bystander to a central player. Eur J Intern Med. European Federation of Internal Medicine.; 2016;29:3–8.
- 71. El-Bassossy HM, Dsokey N, Fahmy A. Characterization of vascular complications in experimental model of fructose-induced metabolic

syndrome. Toxicol Mech Methods. 2014 Dec 29;24(8):536–43.

- 72. Cannizzaro L, Rossoni G, Savi F, Altomare A, Marinello C, Saethang T, et al. Regulatory landscape of AGE-RAGE-oxidative stress axis and its modulation by PPARγ activation in high fructose diet-induced metabolic syndrome. Nutr Metab. Nutrition & Metabolism; 2017;14(1):1–13.
- 73. Wen S-W. The role of consumption of fructose on blood pressure in the nucleus tractus solitariior etd-0618114-155718. Institute of Biomedical Sciences; 2014.
- 74. Ramalingam L, Menikdiwela K, LeMieux M, Dufour JM, Kaur G, Kalupahana N, et al. The renin angiotensin system, oxidative stress and mitochondrial function in obesity and insulin resistance. Biochim Biophys Acta - Mol Basis Dis. Elsevier B.V.; 2017;1863(5):1106–14.
- 75. Altaş M, Var A, Köse C, Özbilgin K, Arı Z. Endothelial dysfunction in high fructose containing diet fed rats : Increased nitric oxide and decreased endothelin-1 levels in liver tissue Yüksek fruktoz içeren diyetle beslenen ratlarda endotel disfonksiyonu : Karaciğer dokusunda artmış nitrik oksit ve. Dicle Med J. 2010;37(3):193–8.
- Gibb AA, Hill BG. Metabolic Coordination of Physiological and Pathological Cardiac Remodeling. Circ Res. 2018;123(1):107–28.
- 77. Ritterhoff J, Tian R. Metabolismin cardiomyopathy: Every substrate matters. Cardiovasc Res. 2017;113(4):411–21.
- Chong CR, Clarke K, Levelt E. Metabolic remodelling in diabetic cardiomyopathy. Cardiovasc Res. 2017;113(4):422–30.
- 79. Griffin TM, Humphries KM, Kinter M, Lim HY, Szweda LI. Nutrient sensing

and utilization: Getting to the heart of metabolic flexibility. Biochimie. 2016;124:74–83.

- Zheng J, Feng Q, Zhang Q, Wang T, Xiao X. Early Life Fructose Exposure and Its Implications for Long-Term Cardiometabolic Health in Offspring. Nutrients. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute (MDPI); 2016 Nov 1;8(11).
- 81. Varma U, Koutsifeli P, Benson VL, Mellor KM, Delbridge LMD. Molecular mechanisms of cardiac pathology in diabetes Experimental insights.
 Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis. Elsevier B.V; 2018;1864(5):1949–59.
- Smith RL, Soeters MR, Wüst RCI, Houtkooper RH. Metabolic flexibility as an adaptation to energy resources and requirements in health and disease. Endocr Rev. 2018;(May).
- 83. Shah MS, Brownlee M. Molecular and cellular mechanisms of cardiovascular disorders in diabetes. Circ Res. 2016;118(11):1808–29.
- Lee TW, Bai KJ, Lee TI, Chao TF, Kao YH, Chen YJ. PPARs modulate cardiac metabolism and mitochondrial function in diabetes. J Biomed Sci. Journal of Biomedical Science; 2017;24(1):1–9.
- Peterzan MA, Lygate CA, Neubauer S, Rider OJ. Metabolic remodeling in hypertrophied and failing myocardium: a review. Am J Physiol - Hear Circ Physiol. 2017;313(3):H597–616.
- 86. Huo Y, Aboud K, Kang H, Cutting LE, Bennett A. Fuel availability and fate in cardiac metabolism: A tale of two substrates. 2017;1860(10):1–13.
- 87. Zlobine I, Gopal K, Ussher JR. Lipotoxicity in obesity and diabetes-related

cardiac dysfunction. Biochim Biophys Acta - Mol Cell Biol Lipids. Elsevier B.V.; 2016;1861(10):1555–68.

- Wende AR, Brahma MK, McGinnis GR, Young ME. Metabolic Origins of Heart Failure. JACC Basic to Transl Sci. 2017;2(3):297–310.
- Koncsos G, Varga Z V., Baranyai T, Boengler K, Rohrbach S, Li L, et al. Diastolic dysfunction in prediabetic male rats: Role of mitochondrial oxidative stress. Am J Physiol - Hear Circ Physiol. 2016;311(4):H927–43.
- Siasos G, Tsigkou V, Kosmopoulos M, Theodosiadis D, Simantiris S, Tagkou NM, et al. Mitochondria and cardiovascular diseases—from pathophysiology to treatment. Ann Transl Med. 2018;6(12):256–256.
- D'Souza K, Nzirorera C, Kienesberger PC. Lipid metabolism and signaling in cardiac lipotoxicity. Biochim Biophys Acta - Mol Cell Biol Lipids. Elsevier B.V.; 2016;1861(10):1513–24.
- 92. Heier C, Haemmerle G. Fat in the heart: The enzymatic machinery regulating cardiac triacylglycerol metabolism. Biochim Biophys Acta - Mol Cell Biol Lipids. Elsevier B.V.; 2016;1861(10):1500–12.
- Lou PH, Lucchinetti E, Scott KY, Huang Y, Gandhi M, Hersberger M, et al. Alterations in fatty acid metabolism and sirtuin signaling characterize early type-2 diabetic hearts of fructose-fed rats. Physiol Rep. 2017;5(16):1–19.
- Yang L, Zhao D, Ren J, Yang J. Endoplasmic reticulum stress and protein quality control in diabetic cardiomyopathy. Biochim Biophys Acta - Mol Basis Dis. 2015;1852(2):209–18.
- 95. E. L, G. G, S. N, G.P. M. Diabetic cardiomyopathy: Pathophysiology and potential metabolic interventions state of the art review. Eur J Endocrinol.

2018;178(4):R127-39.

- 96. Nunes S, Soares E, Fernandes J, Viana S, Carvalho E, Pereira FC, et al. Early cardiac changes in a rat model of prediabetes: Brain natriuretic peptide overexpression seems to be the best marker. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2013;12(1):1–11.
- 97. Zhang Y, Zhang L, Zhang Y, Xu JJ, Sun LL, Li SZ. The protective role of liquiritin in high fructose-induced myocardial fibrosis via inhibiting NF-κB and MAPK signaling pathway. Biomed Pharmacother. Elsevier Masson SAS; 2016;84:1337–49.
- 98. Xie XW. Liquiritigenin attenuates cardiac injury induced by high fructosefeeding through fibrosis and inflammation suppression. Biomed Pharmacother. Elsevier Masson SAS; 2017;86:694–704.
- Zhang YB, Meng YH, Chang S, Zhang RY, Shi C. High fructose causes cardiac hypertrophy via mitochondrial signaling pathway. Am J Transl Res. 2016;8(11):4869–80.
- 100. Schirone L, Forte M, Palmerio S, Yee D, Nocella C, Angelini F, et al. A Review of the Molecular Mechanisms Underlying the Development and Progression of Cardiac Remodeling. Oxid Med Cell Longev. Hindawi; 2017;2017.
- Frangogiannis NG. Cardiac fibrosis: Cell biological mechanisms, molecular pathways and therapeutic opportunities. Mol Aspects Med. Elsevier; 2018;(July):0–1.
- 102. Russo I, Frangogiannis NG. Diabetes-associated cardiac fibrosis: cellular effectors, molecular mechanisms and therapeutic opportunities. US Dep

Heal Hum Serv. 2017;90:84–93.

- 103. Matsumoto E, Sasaki S, Kinoshita H, Kito T, Ohta H, Konishi M, et al. Angiotensin II-induced cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis are promoted in mice lacking Fgf16. Genes to Cells. 2013;18(7):544–53.
- 104. Ytrehus K, Hulot JS, Perrino C, Schiattarella GG, Madonna R. Perivascular fibrosis and the microvasculature of the heart. Still hidden secrets of pathophysiology? Vascul Pharmacol. Elsevier Inc; 2018;107:78–83.
- 105. Fuentes-Antras J, Picatoste B, Gomez-Hernandez A, Egido J, Tunon J, Lorenzo O. Updating experimental models of diabetic cardiomyopathy. J Diabetes Res. 2015;2015.
- 106. Dutta K, Podolin DA, Davidson MB, Davidoff AJ. Cardiomyocyte dysfunction in sucrose-fed rats is associated with insulin resistance. Diabetes. 2001;50(5):1186–92.

FIGURES, TABLES AND SUBTITLES

FIG.1 – Histopathological approach for software-based processing and semi-automated analysis of left ventricle tissue samples.



FIG.1 – Histopathological approach for software-based processing and semi-automated analysis of left ventricle tissue samples. The "Color Classifier" file generated with "Trainable Weka Segmentation" plug-in was applied on the histological samples images to identify and classify the correspondent pre-set components of Masson's Trichrome Staining (MTS). In the sequence, the "Color Deconvolution" plug-in was used to separate the components of interest: muscle fibers/vessel wall and fibrous tissue in different images. **A.** Ventricle cross-sectional samples for calculation of interstitial fibrosis ratio in a 10x augment with 250µm scale bar. **B.** Ventricle microvasculature vessel sample for calculation of perivascular fibrosis ratio in 10x augment with 250µm scale bar.



FIG.2 – Body Weight and Food Intake

FIG.2 – Body Weight and Food Intake. A. Weekly evaluation of body weight (g). **B.** Area under curve of food intake follow up. The bars represent mean \pm SEM. Statistical analysis was performed with (n=8/group) one tailed unpaired t test. The letters indicate statistically significant differences (p<0.05) vs. ^aCTR.





FIG.3 – Biochemical Characterization. A,B,C. Fasting serum glucose levels (mg/dL). **D,E,F**. Fasting triglycerides levels (mg/dL). **G,H,I**. Fasting cholesterol levels (mg/dL). Biochemical parameters were evaluated at 60, 90 and 120 days of life. Bars represent mean ± SEM. Statistical analysis (n=8/group) was performed with one tailed unpaired t test. The letters indicate statistically significant differences (p<0,05) vs. ^aCTR.





FIG.4 – Evaluation of Insulin-Glucose Axis. A. Area under curve of serum glucose levels variation during intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test (ipGTT) at the end of follow up period. **B**. Area under curve of variation of serum glucose levels during intraperitoneal insulin tolerance test (ipITT) at the ende of follow up period. **C,D,E.** TyG index [In (fastingglucose fasting triglyceride)/2] calculated at 60, 90 and 120 days of life. Bars represent mean ± SEM. Statistical analysis (n=8/group) was performed with one tailed unpaired t test. The letters indicate statistically significant differences (p<0,05) vs. ^aCTR.



FIG.5 – Cardiovascular Parameters Characterization





FIG.6 – Total Myocardial Area. A. Image of ventricle cross sectional area in 2x augment (250 μ m scale). **B.** Bars represent mean ± SEM of total myocardial area of the ventricle cross sections (n=5/group). Statistical analysis was performed with one tailed unpaired t test. The letters indicate statistically significant differences (p<0,05) vs. ^aCTR.





FIG.7 – Left Ventricle's Free Wall Thickness. A. Image of ventricle cross sectional area in 2x augment (250 μ m scale), indicating the points of measurement for obtention of mean thickness of left ventricle free wall. **B.** Bars represent mean ± SEM of left ventricle's free wall thickness (n=5/group). Statistical analysis was performed with one tailed unpaired t test. The letters indicate statistically significant differences (p<0,05) vs. ^aCTR.



FIG.8 – Myocardial Interstitial Fibrosis Ratio

FIG.8 – Myocardial Interstitial Fibrosis Ratio. A. Image of Masson's Trichrome Staining (MTS) ventricle sample cross section at level of papillary muscle in 10x augment (250μm scale). **B.** Image of ventricle sample cross section at level of papillary muscle generated with automated color segmentation plug in. **C.** Bars represent mean ± SEM interstitial fibrosis ratio (n=5/group). Statistical analysis was performed with one tailed unpaired t test. The letters indicate statistically significant differences (p<0,05) vs. ^aCTR.

FIG.9 – Myocardial Perivascular Fibrosis Ratio



FIG.9 – Myocardial Perivascular Fibrosis Ratio. A, B. Images of vessel and adjacent fibrous tissue of, respectively, CTR and HSD Masson's Trichrome Staining (MTS) samples in 10x augment (250 μ m scale). **C**, **D.** Images obtained with automated color segmentation plug in of CTR and HSD, respectively. **C.** Bars represent mean ± SEM perivascular fibrosis ratio (n=5/group). Statistical analysis was performed with one tailed unpaired t test. The letters indicate statistically significant differences (p<0,05) vs. ^aCTR.

FIG.10 – Evaluation of Cardiomyocyte Hypertrophy



FIG.10 – Evaluation of Cardiomyocyte Hypertrophy. A, B. Original images of left ventricle cross section samples at level of papillary muscle, processed to better evidence cardiomyocytes limits. **C.** Bars represent mean \pm SEM of measurements of 100 cardiomyocyte area per sample in μ m² (n=5/group). Statistical analysis was performed with one tailed unpaired t test. The letters indicate statistically significant differences (p<0,05) vs. ^aCTR.

Tissues weight (g/100g BW)	CTR	HSD
Periepididymal Fat	$1,40 \pm 0,08$	1,75 ± 0,06ª
Retroperitoneal Fat	1,32 ± 0,11	1,57 ± 0,08
Mesenteric Fat	1,03 ± 0,06	1,29 ± 0,11
Heart	0,33 ± 0,01	0,34 ± 0,01
Liver	$2,92 \pm 0,06$	3,13 ± 0,09
Soleus Muscle	$0,042 \pm 0,001$	0,038 ± 0,0006 ^a
Gastrocnemius Muscle	0,59 ± 0,0306	0,61 ± 0,01

TAB.1 – MORPHOMETRIC ANALYSIS OF COLLECTED TISSUES

TAB.1 – MORPHOMETRIC ANALYSIS OF COLLECTED TISSUES. The numbers represent mean ± SEM of relative tissue weight normalized to 100g of body weight. Statistical analysis was performed with one tailed unpaired t test and the letters indicate statistically significant differences (p<0,05) vs. ^aCTR.

ANEXOS

1. REGRAS DA REVISTA PARA ELABORAÇÃO DO MANUSCRITO:

"JOURNAL OF DEVELOPMENTALORIGINS OF HEALTH AND DISEASE"

You can find the Journal of Developmental Origins of Health and Disease instructions for contributors here:

(http://assets.cambridge.org/DOH/DOH_ifc.pdf) (111.761 KB)

INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

Mission Statement

Journal of Developmental Origins of Health and Disease (J DOHaD) is the official scientific journal of the International Society for Developmental Origins of Health and Disease (DOHaD).

JDOHaD publishes leading research in the field of Developmental Origins of Health and Disease (DOHaD). The Journal focuses on the environment during early pre-natal and post-natal animal and human development, interactions between environmental and genetic factors, including environmental toxicants, and their influence on health and disease risk throughout the lifespan. JDOHaD publishes work on developmental programming, fetal and neonatal biology and physiology, early life nutrition, especially during the first 1,000 days of life, human ecology and evolution and Gene-Environment Interactions. JDOHaD also accepts manuscripts that address the social determinants or education of health and disease risk as they relate to the early life period, as well as the economic and health care costs of a poor start to life. Accordingly, JDOHaD is multidisciplinary, with contributions from basic scientists working in the fields of physiology, biochemistry and nutrition, endocrinology and metabolism, developmental biology, molecular biology/ epigenetics, human biology/ anthropology, and evolutionary developmental biology. Moreover clinicians, nutritionists, epidemiologists, social scientists, economists, public health specialists and policy makers are very welcome to submit manuscripts.

The journal includes original research articles, short communications and reviews, and has regular themed issues, with guest editors; it is also a platform for conference/workshop reports, and for opinion, comment and interaction.

Categories of papers

Original research articles - This category is intended for full-scale basic, clinical or epidemiological studies including large controlled trials. Articles may contain

up to 5,000 words (not including references, figures and tables) and should include an abstract of up to 250 words and 3-5 key words. (Exceptions to the length limitation will be considered for unusually large or complex studies.)

Brief reports - This category is for smaller, self-contained laboratory or clinical studies or analyses. Papers in this category may contain up to 2,500 words (not including references, figures and tables) and should include a maximum of 25 references, up to 2 illustrations (figures or tables), an abstract of up to 150 words and 3-5 key words.

Rapid communications - This category is for 'fast-breaking' new work, which is of great potential interest and can be succinctly presented.

Authors who wish to submit a rapid communication must first send an abstract to the Editor-in-Chief, Michael Ross (DOHaDeditor@cambridge.org) for approval of submission in this category. Submissions that do not have prior approval will be reviewed on the regular track.

Papers in this category may contain up to 2,500 words (not including references, figures and tables) and should include a maximum of 25 references, up to 2 illustrations (figures or tables), an abstract of up to 150 words and 3-5 key words. Rapid communications will be reviewed and published on a "fast track" basis.

Reviews - DOHaD will publish scholarly, comprehensive reviews that summarize and critically evaluate research in the field addressed and identify future implications. Reviews will be invited by the Editors but may also be submitted. Authors wishing to submit papers in this category are advised to contact either the Editor- in-Chief or appropriate Associate Editor before doing so. Reviews may contain up to 5,000 words (not including references, figures and tables) and should include an abstract of up to 250 words and 3-5 key words. (Exceptions to the length limitation will be considered if justified by the scope of the Review).

Focus Papers - These papers focus attention on a research paper published in the same issue in the journal. Focus Papers should highlight, discuss and amplify the issues addressed in the research paper adding perspectives derived the author's own work and the literature and should consider the implications of the findings. Focus papers need not necessarily agree with the paper they address. Focus Papers may contain up to 1500 words (not including references, figures and tables) and 3-5 key words. No abstract is needed. Focus Papers are invited by the Editor-in-Chief.

Letters to the Editor - Letters are invited that discuss or comment on papers published in | DOHaD. They should not, however, be used as a means of publishing new work. Letters should have no more than 10 references and should not contain figures or tables. Acceptance will be at the discretion of the Editorial Board, and editorial changes may be required. Wherever possible, letters from responding authors will be included in the same issue.

Papers in all categories, whether invited or submitted, will be peer reviewed.

Clinical Trials

As a condition of consideration for publication, registration of clinical trials in a public trials registry is required. A clinical trial is defined by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (in accordance with the definition of the World Health Organization) as any research project that prospectively assigns human participants or groups of humans to one or more health-related interventions to evaluate the effects on health outcomes. Trials must be registered before the start of patient enrolment. The registry must be accessible to the public at no charge. It must be open to all prospective registrants and managed by a not-for-profit organization. There must be a mechanism to ensure the validity of the registration data, and the registry should be electronically searchable. An acceptable registry must include at minimum a unique trial number, trial registration date, secondary identification information if assigned by sponsors or others, funding source(s), primary and secondary sponsor (s), responsible contact person, research contact person, official scientific title of the study. research ethics review, the medical condition being studied. intervention(s), key inclusion and exclusion criteria, study type, anticipated trial start date, target sample size, recruitment status, primary outcome, and key secondary outcomes. Registration information must be provided at the time of submission. Trial registry name, registration identification number, and the URL for the registry should be included at the end of the abstract.

Originality and copyright

To be considered for publication in / DOHaD, a manuscript cannot have been published previously, nor can it be under review for publication elsewhere. (Previously published figures may be sparingly used in Reviews, with appropriate permission.) The posting of a brief summary of clinical trial outcomes on a pharmaceutical website (such as the PhRMA-sponsored database www.clinicalstudyresults.org) will not necessary count as prior publication nor impede full consideration of a manuscript: / DOHaD will look at this on a case-bycase basis to determine the extent of overlap between the trial data posted and the manuscript as submitted, and will decide whether the manuscript contains a sufficiently new perspectives or sufficient additional data for it to count as original. Authors should declare when submitting manuscripts that such data have already been posted and J DOHaD will review this sympathetically.

Papers with multiple authors are reviewed with the assumption that all authors have contributed materially to the research reported, have approved the submitted manuscript and concur with its submission to / DOHaD. A Copyright Transfer Agreement, with certain specified rights reserved by the author, must be signed and returned to the Editor by the senior author of accepted manuscripts (Signing on behalf of all the other authors), prior to publication. This is necessary

for the wide distribution of research findings, and the protection of both author and the International Society for Developmental Origins of Health and Disease under copyright law.

Authorship

All individuals included as authors of papers must have contributed substantially to the scientific process leading up to the writing of the paper. Such contribution includes the conception and design of the project, the performance of experiments and the analysis and interpretation of data. In addition, the author should have made a substantial contribution to drafting or critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content.

We are aware that authors sometimes receive assistance from technical writers, language editors and/or writing agencies in preparing manuscripts for publication. Such assistance must be noted in the cover letter and in the Acknowledgements section along with a declaration that the author(s) are entirely responsible for

The scientific content of the paper.

Failure to acknowledge assistance from technical writers, language editors and/or writing agencies in preparing manuscripts for publication in the Acknowledgements section may lead to disqualification of the paper.

Under no circumstances will DOHaD accept submissions by writing or editorial agencies on behalf of authors and there will be no correspondence with writing or editorial agencies regarding submitted or revised manuscripts.

Manuscript submission

All manuscripts must be submitted online via the website:

http://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/dohad (http://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/dohad)

Detailed instructions for submitting your manuscript online can be found at the submission website by clicking on the 'Instructions and Forms' link in the top right of the screen; and then clicking on the 'Author Submission

Instructions' icon on the following page.

The Editor-in-Chief will acknowledge receipt of the manuscript, provide it with a manuscript reference number and assign it to an Associate Editor and to reviewers. The reference number of the manuscript should be quoted in all correspondence with the / DOHaD Office and Publisher.

Initial Submission

The following instructions must be followed carefully:

The preferred file format for submission is Microsoft Word; however you can also submit Adobe Acrobat (.pdf) files readable with Acrobat Reader. The tables and figures should be included in the same file.

Word Perfect or other word-processor files or Macintosh-based files are not acceptable.

* Tables should be placed at the end of the document and not within the text.

* Do not use "enter" in order to start a new page. "Hard" page or section breaks must be used.

* A cover letter should be attached as a separate file. In the cover letter, the category under which the manuscript is submitted should be indicated and the corresponding author identified, including phone number, fax number and electronic mail address. The cover letter must include a statement regarding authorship (see Authorship section above).

* File-names should indicate the name of the first author of the paper or an abbreviated version thereof and the content of the file (text, tables, figures).

* Printed copies of the manuscript, tables and figures are not required and should not be sent.

Please note that correspondence regarding submitted and revised manuscripts will be with the Corresponding Author only.

Revised\Final Submission

* The uploaded manuscript must be in the form of a Word for Windows file with figures (prepared as instructed below) in separate files. Word Perfect or other word- processor files or Macintosh-based files are not acceptable.

* Do not use "enter" in order to start a new page. "Hard" page or section breaks must be used.

Figures should be prepared using appropriate formats and saved as TIFF or JPEG files. It is essential that JPEGs are greater than 320dpi. PowerPoint files or figures "pasted" into Word files are not acceptable for revised or final submissions.

File names should indicate the manuscript number assigned by the journal and the content of the file (text, figures).

Review process

Manuscripts submitted to / DOHaD including those for supplements will be reviewed by at least two external reviewers and evaluated by an Associate Editor. Authors are requested to suggest up to 4 reviewers who are especially qualified to referee the work and would not have a conflict of interest. Please provide the names, email addresses, fax numbers and mailing addresses of the suggested reviewers. If authors prefer that a particular reviewer do not evaluate the paper, they may indicate this request with appropriate justification, which will be treated confidentially. Suggestions and requests regarding reviewers will be considered by the Editor without obligation to accept them. Authors should note that manuscripts may be returned after initial review by the Editors if the paper is deemed unlikely to be reviewed favorably. This rapid rejection process enables the author to submit promptly to publication elsewhere.

Every effort will be made to provide the author with a review within six weeks of receipted of the manuscript. If the Editor requests that revisions be made to a manuscript before publication, a maximum of 3 months shall be allowed for preparation of the revision, except in unusual circumstances.

Manuscript preparation and style

The manuscript should be typed double-spaced throughout on 'Letter' or A4 paper. Pages should be numbered sequentially beginning with the Title Page. Margins should not be less than 2.5cm on all sides and the font should be clearly legible and uniform throughout.

A **Short Title** of up to forty-five characters should be provided on the title page and should be repeated at the top right of every following page. The names of the authors (e.g. Smith et al. or Smith and Jones) should be given at the top left of every page besides the title page.

The *Abstract* should be unstructured (i.e., no sub-headings) but must provide the reader with a self-contained summary of the paper. It should include a brief introduction to the paper, the method, the key findings, and the conclusions. A list of 3–5 key words or terms for indexing should follow the abstract.

The **Body of the Manuscript** should begin on page 3. For Regular Original Articles, Brief Reports, the formal should include: Introduction, Method, Results, Discussion and Acknowledgements. These should be followed on a new page by the References.

Tables should be consecutively numbered as they appear in the text (Table 1, etc.). Each Table should be typed on a separate sheet with the Table number and heading above and any note below.

Figures should be consecutively numbered as they appear in the text (Figure 1, 2 etc). Use italic letters for parts a, b, c etc. Use abbreviation (Fig), except where starting a new sentence. Legends should be provided for each Figure. Scale bars should be added to photomicrographs and other similar images. Figures (scale bars, pie charts, etc) should be presented in two dimensions only.

All figures submitted to Journal of Developmental Origins of Health and Disease will be published in colour on Cambridge Core Online free of charge.

Exceptions to Free Colour:

+ Colour figures submitted to Journal of Developmental Origins of Health and Disease will be published in colour free of charge with the following exceptions:

* The colour figure file is deemed unusable due to production standards or poor colour quality and must be converted to black and white.

+ The author gives explicit instructions to convert the colour figure to black and white. What to Expect

Authors will see these colour figures when viewing their author page proofs on screen. Authors will NOT be allowed to submit colour figures to replace black and white figures in the page proof stage. The use of Abbreviations, except those that are widely used, is strongly discouraged. They should be used only if they contribute to better comprehension of the manuscript. Acronyms should be spelled out at first mention. Metric system (SI) units should be used.

J DOHaD encourages submissions from all over the world. Authors who are not fluent in written English are encouraged to seek assistance in this regard before submitting their manuscripts.

Acknowledgements

Here you may acknowledge individuals or organisations that provided advice and/or support (non-financial). Formal financial support and funding should be listed in the following section.

The Acknowledgements should be placed after the main body of the text before Financial Support. If there are no Acknowledgements, the title should be inserted followed by "None". Papers that do not include an Acknowledgements section will not be reviewed.

Financial Support

Please provide details of the sources of financial support for all authors, including grant numbers. This is particularly important in the case of research that is supported by industry. Support from industry not only includes direct financial support for the study but also support in kind such as provision of medications, equipment, kits or reagents without charge or at reduced cost and provision of services such as statistical analysis. For example, "This work was supported by the Medical research Council (grant number XXXXXX)". Multiple grant numbers should be separated by a comma and space, and where research was funded by more than one agency the different agencies should be separated by a semicolon, with "and" before the final funder. Grants held by different authors should be identified as belonging to individual authors by the authors' initials. For example, "This work was supported by the Wellcome Trust (A.B., grant numbers XXXX, YYYY), (C.D., grant number ZZZZ); the Natural Environment Research Council (E.F., grant number FFFF); and the National Institutes of Health (A.B., grant number GGGG), (E.F., grant number HHHH)". Where no specific funding has been provided for research, please provide the following statement: "This research received no specific grant from any funding agency, commercial or notfor-profit sectors."

The Financial Support statement should be placed after the Acknowledgements and before the Conflicts of Interest section. Papers that do not include a Financial Support statement will not be reviewed.

Conflicts of Interest

Conflict of interest exists when an author has interests that might inappropriately influence his or her judgement, even if that judgement is not influenced. Because of this, authors must disclose potentially conflicting interests so that others can make judgements about such effects. At the time of submission authors should disclose any financial arrangements or connections they may have that are pertinent to the submitted manuscript and that may be perceived as potentially biasing their paper. Non-financial interests that could be relevant in this context should also be disclosed. If no relevant interests exist, this should be stated. This requirement applies to all the authors of a paper and to all categories of papers including letters to the editor.

The Conflicts of Interest section should be placed after Financial Support. If there are no interests to declare, the title should be inserted followed by "None".

Papers that do not include a Conflicts of Interest section will not be reviewed. Ethical Standards

Where research involves human and/or animal experimentation, the following statements should be included (as applicable): "The authors assert that all procedures contributing to this work comply with the ethical standards of the relevant national guidelines on human experimentation (please name) and with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2008, and has been approved by the institutional committees (please name).